

**DIGITAL CHILD WORKING PAPER SERIES 2023-01** 

## Moving screen use guidelines:

Nine reasons why screen use guidelines should be separated from public health 24-hour movement guidelines in Australia and internationally

#### **AUTHORS**

Leon Straker, Susan Edwards, Lisa Kervin, Jade Burley, Danica Hendry and Dylan Cliff







#### **AUTHORS**

Straker, L.
Curtin University
School of Allied Health
L.Straker@curtin.edu.au

Kervin, L.
University of Wollongong
School of Education
lkervin@uow.edu.au

Burley, J.
University of Wollongong
School Education
jburley@uow.edu.au

Hendry, D.
Curtin University
School of Allied Health
danica.hendry@curtin.edu.au

Cliff, D.
University of Wollongong
School of Education
<a href="mailto:dylanc@uow.edu.au">dylanc@uow.edu.au</a>

#### **SUGGESTED CITATION**

Straker, L., Edwards, S., Kervin, L., Burley, J., Hendry, D., and Cliff, D. 2023 Digital Child Working Paper 2023-01, Moving screen use guidelines: Nine reasons why screen use guidelines should be separated from public health 24-hour movement guidelines in Australia and internationally. ARC Centre of Excellence for the Digital Child, Brisbane, Australia.

#### **ISSN/DOI**

ISSN: 2653-5270 DOI: https://doi.org/10.26187/88f7-mf41

#### **KEYWORDS**

Guidelines; policy; screen time; child; health; development

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENT/S**

This Working Paper was supported by the Australian Research Council Centre of Excellence for the Digital Child (grant #CE200100022). The Australian Research Council Centre of Excellence for the Digital Child acknowledges the traditional owners of the lands on where we gather and pay our respects to the elders, past, present and future.

#### **COPYRIGHT**

Copyright © 2023 Straker, Edwards, Kervin, Burley, Hendry & Cliff. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the <u>Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (CC BY 4.0).</u>

Electronic versions of the paper are freely available at the Centre website www.digitalchild.org.au

### A MESSAGE FROM PROFESSOR SUSAN DANBY, CENTRE DIRECTOR

In 2021, the Australian Research Council (ARC) funded a Centre of Excellence devoted to studying and researching 'the digital child'. The focus of this Centre is on very young children from birth to age 8, and describes and examines their everyday lives with and through digital technologies, their learning and their health in the family, and various kinds of kindergarten, childcare and early primary education experiences.

The Centre brings together six universities across Australia, as well as partner investigators from North America, Asia and Europe and a range of public bodies and civil society stakeholders, to focus on a holistic understanding of what it might mean to 'grow up digital' today.

The Digital Child Working Paper Series reports on our work in progress. There are five series of papers aimed at different audiences:

A 'how to' series offers instructional papers aimed at early career researchers or those new to the principles and practices of structured review.

A 'discussion' series consisting of discussion papers aimed at the scholarly community, raising larger conceptual challenges faced by researchers at the Centre and drawing on forms of literature review.

A **'reviews'** series consisting of scoping reviews, literature reviews and systematic reviews, all addressing specific research questions particular to any of the programme disciplines in the Centre.

A 'methods and methodologies' series consisting of digital research capacity building resource-rich discussion papers, offering more technical support for the research community and allied scholarship. These are more focused on methods and methodologies.

A 'policy' series consisting of more public facing, policy-oriented papers produced for stakeholder engagement.

Each of the working papers has been authored by members of the Centre and has been subject to review as explained in each paper. The arguments in each paper represent the view of the authors.

We hope that readers find each of these papers stimulating and generative and that all sections of society can draw on the insights, arguments and ideas within the papers to create healthy, educated and connected futures for all and every child.

Professor Susan Danby

Director, Centre of Excellence for the Digital Child

June 2022

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

This paper is part of a series of review papers aimed at stimulating discussion and debate about key themes, concepts, and theories underpinning research and practice related to children in a digital world. This paper has been checked by the sub-series editorial team to ensure it meets basic standards around clarity of expression and acceptable and inclusive language and content.

Screen use by children is an issue of broad community concern, with children, their parents, professionals working with families, government and service organisations and technology developers seeking guidance on how children can gain the potential benefits from using screens whilst minimising the potential harms. Guidelines from government health departments and health organisations are important contributions to enable communities to support their children growing up in a digital world. Over the past two decades there has been increasing scrutiny of these guidelines, including their evidence base and the utility of the information they provide. The current guidelines in Australia and several other countries have essentially retained the focus on limiting the amount of time children are exposed to screens, which was initially proposed at the end of the last century when the sociotechnical system in which children were developing was very different. Recent international guidelines have moved away from time based guidelines to better reflect the evidence base and provide information that is potentially of more use to families and those people and organisations interested in supporting families.

The aim of this paper is to stimulate health policy, practice and research thinking around how guidelines could best support children's wise use of screens. To do so it outlines the historical development of Australian screen use guidelines including reasons for them being embedded in physical activity and 24 hour movement guidelines. The evolution of guidelines in other countries is also outlined, highlighting recent changes in thinking. Nine reasons are presented for why screen use guidelines should be separated from physical activity/movement guidelines:

- 1. Enable adequate considerations of aspects of screen use other than time
- 2. Enable better guidance on how screen use can have a positive impact on child health and development
- 3. Recognise the varying needs and vulnerabilities of different children
- 4. Recognise rights of children growing up in a digital society
- 5. Enable transdisciplinary guidelines
- 6. Enable a neutral approach to screen use
- 7. Enable the clear separation of sitting time from screen use
- 8. Encourage better measures of screen use
- 9. Enable moderate/vigorous physical activity and sleep guidelines to be better received by the community.

The paper concludes by suggesting principles for the development of guidelines which could better support children growing up in a digital world.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

AUTHORS	2
SUGGESTED CITATION	2
ISSN/DOI	2
KEYWORDS	2
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT/S	2
COPYRIGHT	2
A MESSAGE FROM PROFESSOR SUSAN DANBY, CENTRE DIRECTOR	3
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
TABLE OF CONTENTS	6
What is the aim of this paper?	7
What are the current Australian guidelines for screen use?	8
Why are screen use guidelines embedded in 'movement' guidelines?	8
As this is a global issue, what is happening overseas?	12
Why should screen use have its own guidelines?	21
1) Enable adequate consideration of aspects of screen use other than time	21
2) Enable better guidance on how screen use can have a positive impact on child health and development	21
3) Recognise the varying needs and vulnerabilities of different children	22
4) Recognise rights of children growing up in a digital society	23
5) Enable transdisciplinary guidelines	23
6) Enable a neutral approach to screen use	24
7) Enable the clear separation of sitting time from screen use	24
8) Encourage better measures of screen use	25
9) Enable moderate/vigorous physical activity and sleep guidelines to be better received by the community	26
Time to re-evaluate the approach to screen use guidelines in Australia (and internationally) $$	26
ABOUT THE AUTHORS	28
REFERENCES	30

## What is the aim of this paper?

Screen use by children is an issue of broad community concern, with children, their parents, professionals working with families, government and service organisations and technology developers seeking guidance on how children can gain the potential benefits from using screens whilst minimising the potential harms. Guidelines from government health departments and health organisations are important contributions to enable communities to support their children growing up in a digital world. Over the past two decades there has been increasing scrutiny of these guidelines, including their evidence base and the utility of the information they provide. The current guidelines in Australia and several other countries have essentially retained the focus on limiting the amount of time children are exposed to screens, which was initially proposed at the end of the last century when the sociotechnical system in which children were developing was very different. Recent international guidelines have moved away from time-based guidelines to better reflect the evidence base and provide information that is potentially of more use to families and those people and organisations interested in supporting families.

Therefore this paper aims to stimulate health policy, practice and research thinking around how to best support families enabling children to gain the benefits of screen use whilst minimising the potential for harm. To do so it will:

- provide an overview of the development and rationale for screen use guidelines in Australia and internationally;
- present nine practical and conceptual reasons why we consider the current health guidelines are
  not fit for purpose. These include that the community dismisses current time-based guidelines as
  unrealistic and therefore the utility of the guidelines is minimised. It also includes the reason that
  by only considering the time aspects of screen use and focussing on sedentary behaviour the
  current guidelines miss the opportunity to provide useful guidance on other key aspects; and
- provide suggestions for key characteristics of better screen use guidelines, separate from movement guidelines.

Internationally screen use research and guidelines use a range of terms such as 'electronic media time' and 'digital technology engagement'. In this paper the term 'screen use' will be used to encompass the broad nature of use including the variety of hardware, software, content and purposes and context of use. Screen hardware includes devices such as televisions, desktop computers, laptop computers and game consoles, virtual reality headsets, as well as more recent mobile touch screen hardware innovations such as tablet computers and smart phones (iPhone released in 2007 and iPad in 2010), often with internet connection. Contemporary screen use includes content and software enabling viewing live broadcast and on-demand content, game play, social media interaction, image/video/audio capture, editing and communication, research, report writing, and reading. Screen use can also be for a variety of purposes including formal schooling, self-directed learning, relaxation, interacting with family and friends and daily living activities such as shopping. Screen use can be conducted in a range of contexts including being alone, with peers, family and strangers in person and virtually. While screen use encompasses more than

just 'time' aspects it does not include non-screen digital technologies such as robots, smart speakers and non-screen dependent software such as generative artificial intelligence (Leaver et al., 2023). These technologies do not have the same visual constraints as screen based technologies and thus may have a different range of issues which should be considered, but are outside the scope of this paper.

## What are the current Australian guidelines for screen use?

Currently the main Australian national government guidelines providing advice to families and professionals about children and young people's screen use are embedded in the "24-hour Movement Guidelines" issued by the federal Department of Health and Aged Care (Australian Government Department of Health, 2018) . Whilst this department has responsibilities for the health of young children it does not have responsibility for early childhood education and care. However, these guidelines have influence for families with young children and all professionals working with these families. The current versions of these state:

- for children under 2 years, "Sedentary screen time is not recommended" (Australian Government Department of Health, 2018).
- for children aged 2-5 years, "Sedentary screen time should be no more than 1 hour; less is better." (Australian Government Department of Health, 2018) (and the government website says "avoid sedentary screen-based activities") (Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care, 2021).
- and for children (aged 5-12 years) and young people (aged 13-17 years), "Sedentary recreational screen time should be limited to no more than 2 hours per day" (Australian Government Department of Health, 2018).

## Why are screen use guidelines embedded in 'movement' guidelines?

One of the historical reasons why screen use guidelines in Australia are a part of physical activity/movement guidelines was because of the connection with the public health issue of childhood obesity.

At the turn of the last century there was increasing concern with the rising rates of childhood obesity (e.g. Flegal et al., 1998). Studies were reporting that TV viewing time was associated with unhealthy weight, possibly due to unhealthy snacking, exposure to food marketing and displacement of physical activity (Gortmaker et al., 1996; Robinson, 1999). These findings provided a rationale for guidelines to limit screen time. Thus in 2003 the American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Nutrition, in their position statement "Prevention of Pediatric Overweight and Obesity" recommended limiting television and video

viewing time to a maximum of 2 hours per day (American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Nutrition, 2003).

In 2004 the Australian Physical Activity Guidelines for school-aged children (Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing, 2004a) and adolescents (Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing, 2004b) were released and included a similar recommendation to limit screen time:

• "Children should not spend more than two hours a day using electronic media for entertainment (e.g. computer games, TV, Internet), particularly during daylight hours."

In 2010 the Australian Physical Activity Guidelines for young children (0-5 years) were released (Australian Government Department of Health and Aging, 2010). Consistent with the Australian guidelines for school aged children, these included screen time limits. The actual time limit was based on the stakeholder suggestion to be more restrictive than for school-aged children ("no more than 2 hours per day" (Australian Government Department of Health and Aging, 2010)), and thus ended up being more restrictive for toddlers and preschoolers than other national guidelines (e.g. the American Academy of Paediatrics was recommending "no more than one to two hours per day of quality educational programming among children older than two years of age." (American Academy of Pediatrics, 2001; American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Public Education, 1999). The 2010 Australian recommendations were:

- "Children younger than 2 years of age should not spend any time watching television or using other electronic media (DVDs, computer and other electronic games)" and
- "For children 2 to 5 years of age, sitting and watching television and the use of other electronic media (DVDs, computer and other electronic games) should be limited to less than one hour per day"

A further historical reason for why screen use guidelines in Australia became a part of the physical activity/movement guidelines was because of the link with the related public health issue of sedentary behaviour as a risk factor for chronic health conditions.

Around 2008-2010 adult research on health risks associated with sitting expanded greatly (e.g. Hamilton et al., 2008) with the impact that sitting was considered a determinant of health independent of physical activity (i.e., a person can meet guidelines for regular moderate/vigorous activity but still have elevated risk of ill-health if they sit for most of the rest of the day.)

Although the evidence for sitting being associated with health outcomes in children and adolescents was not strong at the time, research on screen time (one type of sedentary behaviour, and typically captured as TV viewing time) continued to show adverse associations with health outcomes (Straker et al., 2016). This provided a second rationale for including screen time guidelines along with physical activity/movement guidelines as screen time could be considered detrimental for health because it typically involved sitting. Consequently in the 2014 update of Australian guidelines, sedentary behaviour and screen use were made more prominent. Whilst the two-hour limit for screen time remained, the revised guidelines responded to changes in evidence by acknowledging the importance of purpose of use (focussed on entertainment only) and device (specified seated electronic games), and provided separate

Australian Sedentary Behaviour (Okely et al., 2012a) and Physical Activity guidelines (Okely et al., 2012b) for school-aged children and adolescents. The two-hour limit, however, remained essentially unchanged in 2014 – "Limit use of electronic media for entertainment (e.g. television, seated electronic games and computer use) to no more than two hours a day – lower levels are associated with reduced health risks" (Okely et al., 2012a).

The concerns about obesity as a significant health outcome and sitting time as a health risk factor continued to influence the most recent updates of the Australian guidelines for young children (Australian Government Department of Health, 2017) and school-aged children and adolescents (Australian Government Department of Health, 2018), but new concepts also influenced the updates.

In 2016 the Canadian Society of Exercise Physiology (CSEP) shifted from 'physical activity' to '24-hour movement behaviour' guidelines to reinforce that behaviours across the whole day matter, including not just moderate/vigorous physical activity but also sedentary time and sleep time (i.e. too little physical activity, too much sitting and too little sleep might all be bad for health) (Canadian Society of Exercise Physiology, 2016). This new terminology was adopted for the Australian 2017 and 2018 guidelines, and screen use and physical activity guidelines were recombined. Whilst the prior screen time limits were retained there was an explicit recognition of the importance of sitting as a risk factor with the addition of the term 'sedentary'. Thus the 2017/2018 Australian guidelines stated:

- "For those aged 2 years, sedentary screen time should be no more than 1 hour; less is better." (Australian Government Department of Health, 2017)
- "Sedentary recreational screen time should be limited to 2 hours per day" (Australian Government Department of Health, 2018)

So in Australia, screen time guidelines for children have been embedded in physical activity/movement guidelines initially because of concerns about childhood obesity as a public health issue and the connections between physical activity, screen time and obesity in children. Screen time limits for children continued to be justified through the emergence of sitting/sedentary behaviour as a potential independent determinant of health, separate from physical activity, and the connection between sitting/sedentary behaviour and screen time. Similar to other jurisdictions screen time limits were restricted to 'recreational' purposes (to exclude schooling and/or educational purposes), and sedentary guidelines focussed on screen use and not on other sedentary behaviours as screen use was often considered bad, whereas some other sedentary behaviours were considered good – such as reading from hard copy books (Okely et al., 2017). More explicitly than other jurisdictions, Australian guidelines are restricted to 'sedentary' screen time (to exclude whole body active electronic game time, which can be physically active rather than sedentary) (Straker & Abbott, 2007).

Table 1 provides a summary of the historical development of the Australian guidelines and highlights that screen time limits in Australia have remained relatively unchanged since 2004 (school-aged children and adolescents) and 2008 (young children).

Table 1: Summary of development of Australian Government Health Department screen use guidelines over time

	Young children (0-5y)	School-aged children (5-17y)
2004		"Children should not spend more than two
(Australian		hours a day using electronic media for
Government		entertainment (e.g. computer games, TV,
Department		Internet), particularly during daylight
of Health		hours."
and Ageing,		
2004a,		
2004b)		
2010	"Children younger than two years	
(Australian	should not spend any time viewing	
Government	television and other electronic media	
Department	(DVDs, computer and other	
of Health	electronic games).	
and Aging,		
2010)	"For children 2 to 5 years of age,	
	sitting and watching television and	
	the use of other electronic media	
	(DVDs, computer and other	
	electronic games) should be limited	
	to less than one hour per day."	
2014 (Okely	Separate Sedentary Behaviour Guideli	nes provided
et al.,	Children aged less than 2 years:	"Limit use of electronic media for
2012a)	"Should not spend any time	entertainment to no more than two hours
	watching television or using other	a day - lower levels are associated with
	electronic media (DVDs, computer	reduced health risks"
	and other electronic games"	
	Children aged 2 to 5 years: "Sitting	
	and watching television and the use	
	of other electronic media (DVDs,	
	computer and other electronic	
	games) should be limited to less than	
	one hour per day."	
2017	Birth to 1 year: "Screen time is not	
(Australian	recommended."	
Government		
Department	Toddlers 1-2 years: "For those aged 2	
	years, sedentary screen time should	

of Health,	be no more than 1 hour; less is better"	
2017)	better	
	Preschoolers 3-5 years: "Sedentary screen time should be no more than 1 hour; less is better"	
2018		"Sedentary recreational screen time
(Australian		should be limited to 2 hours per day"
Government		
Department		
of Health,		
2018)		

## As this is a global issue, what is happening overseas?

Concerns over the potential impacts of screen use on child health, well-being and development are global and, as indicated above, the guidelines developed outside Australia have influenced past Australian guidelines. Thus, a review of international trends provides important context for consideration of revised Australian and international guidelines. Table 2 provides a summary of the development of some key international guidelines over the past few decades.

The earliest screen use guidelines with wide recognition came from the American Academy of Paediatrics (AAP) around the turn of the century (American Academy of Pediatrics, 2001; American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Public Education, 1999). Since then the AAP has released revisions in 2011 (for children under 2 years) (American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Communications and Media, 2011), 2013 (for children of any age and adolescents) (American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Communications and Media et al., 2013), and 2016 (separately for both young children and for children and adolescents) (American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Communications and Media, 2016; American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Communications and Media et al., 2016). The AAP guidelines include time limits, but also mention aspects of content (e.g. quality programming), purpose of use (e.g video chat), and context (e.g. co-viewing) (American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Communications and Media, 2011, 2016; American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Communications and Media et al., 2013).

While these guidelines have been widely cited, issues have been raised concerning the validity and scope of these guidelines. For example the AAP guidelines were based on expert consensus, so claims about the effects of screen use on health and development may be at risk of bias (e.g., mis-represent/over-estimate effects by selectively using evidence) (Elson et al., 2019). Similarly, as no systematic review or evidence grading was conducted the quality of evidence and strength of confidence in conclusions is unknown (Elson et al., 2019; National Health and Medical Research Council, 2000, 2009; World Health Organization.

Global Programme on Evidence for Health Policy, 2003). A further critique has been that guidelines for young children focussed strongly on minds to the exclusion of bodies (Straker et al., 2016).

In Canada, guidelines from the Canadian Paediatric Society for young children (Canadian Paediatric Society Digital Health Task Force, 2017) and school-aged children and adolescents (Canadian Paediatric Society Digital Health Task Force, 2019) (2019) were very similar to the AAP guidelines. These were developed following systematic literature searches, with a focus on contrasting the potential benefits for development or health compared to the potential risks. The guidance statements for clinicians and families focused on four principles: healthy management, meaningful screen use, positive modelling, and balanced, informed monitoring of screen time and behaviours. The guidelines for young children have recently been updated taking into account the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on families, and emphasising that besides time, families can mitigate risks and enable benefits to physical and psychosocial health and development though mindful use (Canadian Paediatric Society Digital Health Task Force, 2022).

Other Canadian guidelines released by the CSEP in 2016 for children and youth (Canadian Society of Exercise Physiology, 2016) and in 2017 for young children (Canadian Society of Exercise Physiology, 2017). The CSEP adopted a development process which attempted to provide a stronger evidence base for the guidelines, including by the use of systematic reviews. However these reviews were updates of reviews in 2011 (school-aged children) (Tremblay et al., 2011) and 2012 (young children) and maintained the same narrow focus and did not acknowledge the limited capacity of existing epidemiological studies to inform guidelines. Despite the attempts to provide a stronger evidence base, the screen time guidelines were mostly unchanged suggesting that the thinking had not evolved concerning the information on screen use that guidelines might usefully provide, despite rapid changes in children's digital technology use and new evidence on the importance of aspects of screen use other than time.

The CSEP guidelines and process have been adopted by countries other than Australia, including South Africa (Sports Science Institute of South Africa, 2019) and New Zealand (New Zealand Ministry of Health, 2017a, 2017b) and were also used by the World Health Organisation (WHO) (World Health Organization, 2019, 2020a). Thus some of the limitations of the CSEP guidelines and development have been replicated in other guidelines. For example in Australia - the literature review conducted in 2017 (Okely et al., 2017) to update the CSEP literature review (Tremblay et al., 2012) focused only on total screen time, common screen types (time - TV/DVDs, video games) and dose (time - eg </>
>2 hrs). The narrow focus did not consider evidence on contextual aspects of screen time (co-viewing, content, timing, etc) despite these aspects being included in other guidance statements (USA, Canada, UK) (American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Communications and Media, 2016; American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Communications and Media et al., 2016; Canadian Society of Exercise Physiology, 2016, 2017; Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health, 2019; Tremblay et al., 2011).

Further, the development process in Australia (and elsewhere) used what some have considered a flawed principle of not changing existing guidelines unless there was evidence to change them, rather than requiring sufficient evidence to support a guideline. This was despite the acknowledgment of scant

evidence on the now common mobile touch screen devices. This has resulted in guidelines retaining recommendations established around the turn of the century in USA, when the digital environment for children was very different.

Recently international guidelines have been released by the WHO and these provide useful insight into the contemporary shifts in thinking about screen use guidelines. The WHO Guidelines on physical activity, sedentary behaviour and sleep for young children (under 5 years of age) released in 2019 (World Health Organization, 2019) were underpinned by, and included updates of, the CESP and Australian systematic reviews (Okely et al., 2017; Tremblay et al., 2011). The WHO young children guideline development group included the guideline development leads from Canada, Australia and South Africa.

However the subsequent 2020 WHO Guidelines on Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour for schoolaged children (6-17y) (2020) (World Health Organization, 2020a) were developed by a different group of researchers, and used a somewhat different approach, although they also conducted a literature review (World Health Organization, 2020b). This development group concluded that there was insufficient evidence to support a dose limit for screen time, reflecting a growing recognition that the evidence was not as clear and supportive as previously presented. The group also used a process whereby prior recommendations were not retained unless there was adequate evidence. These guidelines therefore did NOT include a screen time limit.

This shift in thinking was clearly evident in what has been seen as a radical shift in the guidelines released slightly earlier by the UK Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health. Despite political pressure to adopt traditional time based guidelines, the development group conducted an umbrella review (Stiglic & Viner, 2019) and concluded there was insufficient evidence to justify time limits. This was supported by sophisticated analysis examining the consistency and the size of effects of social media exposure on adolescent mental health (Orben & Przybylski, 2019), an issue of increasing community concern. The 2019 UK guidelines therefore did NOT include screen time limits, counter to the approach previously used by CSEP and Australia to retain the existing time limits unless there was evidence to change. (The voices of children were also prominent in the UK guideline development for the first time.) The impact of this change in approach was a substantial change in the guidance provided to families, encouraging them to assess whether screen used interfered with sleep or what the family wanted to do, and whether screen use was controlled and whether snacking during screen used was controlled.

Given these recent changes in guidelines in the UK, as well as WHO and US/AAP guidelines for school-aged children, that have moved away from simple time-based screen use guidelines it is timely for Australia and other countries to reflect on their own guidelines.

The historical development of screen use guidelines also needs to be considered in the context of technical and social changes in screen use. When screen time guidelines were first promulgated over two decades ago the nature of screen use was quite different to the current screen use sociotechnical system. At that time many children had access to television screens in one or more rooms of their home, and interaction with screens was typically limited to viewing broadcast programs at scheduled times or viewing pre-recorded videos. Later, console based electronic games enabled more cognitive and physical

interaction, with the development of whole-body active electronic games providing a non-sedentary type of screen use. Mobile touch screen devices such as tablet computers and smart phones extended the possibilities for the opportunities for screen use to be anywhere. Additionally, the development of content streaming and apps extending the opportunities for screen use to be anytime, and their intuitive interfaces requiring only simple motor and cognitive skills extending screen use opportunities to be for nearly anybody, including young children.

The contemporary screen use sociotechnical system in which children are now developing is very different to when the screen time guidelines were first developed. These changes in society, together with the changes in evidence and international guidelines approaches, suggest it would be worthwhile for Australia and other countries to reconsider on how guidelines could best support their communities.

**Table 2: Summary of key international guidelines for children's screen use.** (Blue font represents guidelines related to screen time, grey font represents guidelines related to other aspects of screen use.)

	Young children (0-5y)	School-aged children (5-17y)
United States of A	America- American Academy of Ped	iatrics Guidelines
1999 (American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Public Education, 1999)	"Paediatricians should urge parents to avoid television viewing for children under the age of 2 years"	"Advice to parents should include the following:  - Encouraging careful selection of programs to view  - Coviewing and discussing content with children and adolescents  - Teaching critical viewing skills  - Limiting and focusing time spent with media"
2001 (American	"Discourage television viewing for	
Academy of	children under the age of 2."	
Pediatrics, 2001)	"Limit children's total media time (with entertainment media) to no more than 1-2 hours of quality programming per day"	
	"encourage more interactive activities that will promote proper brain	
	development, such as talking, playi  "View television programs along wi  "Remove television sets from childr	th children and discuss the content"

	T		
	"Monitor the shows children and adolescents are viewing. Most programs should be		
	informational, educational and non violent."		
	"Use controversial programming as a stepping-off point to initiate discussions		
	about family values, violence, sex and sexuality, and drugs"		
2011 (American	" discourages media use by		
Academy of	children younger than 2 years"		
Pediatrics			
Council on			
Communications			
and Media, 2011)			
2013 (American	"Discourage screen media		
Academy of	exposure for children <2 years of		
Pediatrics	age"		
Council on	"Limit the total amount of total ente	ertainment screen time to <1 to 2 hours per day"	
Communications			
and Media et al.,	"Coview TV, movies, and videos with children and teenagers, and use this as a way		
2013)	of discussing important family value		
2016 (American	Encouraged use of a Family Media Plan to "Address what type of and how much		
Academy of	media are used and what media behaviors are appropriate for each child or		
Pediatrics	teenager, and for parents. Place consistent limits on hours per day of media use as		
Council on	well as types of media used"		
Communications	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		
and Media et al.,			
2016)			
Canada- Canadia	n Paediatric Society		
2017 (Canadian	"Screen time for children younger		
Paediatric	than 2 years is not		
Society Digital	recommended."		
Health Task			
Force, 2017)	"For children 2 to 5 years, limit		
	routine or regular screen time to		
	less than 1 hour per day."		
	in an		
	"Be aware of content and		
	prioritize educational, age-		
	appropriate and interactive		
	programming"		
	programming		

	T	T
2019 (Canadian		"Make and regularly review or revise a Family
Paediatric		Media Plan, including individualized time and
Society Digital		content limits"
Health Task		
Force, 2019)		"Prioritize screen activities that are
		educational, active, or social over those that
		are passive or unsocial"
		"encourage parents to review their own media
		habits, and plan time for alternative hobbies,
		outdoor play, and activities"
		"Manitar for signs of problematic serson use at
		"Monitor for signs of problematic screen use at any age, including the following: oppositional
2022 (Canadian	"Screen time for children younger	behaviour in response to screen time limits"
Paediatric	than 2 years is not recommended	
Society Digital	apart from video-chatting with	
Health Task	caring adult. There is no evidence	
Force, 2022)	to support introducing technology	
	at an early age"	
	"For children 2 to 5 years, limit	
	routine or sedentary screen time	
	to about 1 hour or less per day"	
	"Ensure that sedentary screen	
	time is not a routine part of child	
	care for children younger than 5	
	years."	
	"Be present and engaged when	
	screens are used and, whenever	
	possible, co-view with children to	
	model and encourage digital	
	media literacy. Help children	
	recognize and question	
	advertising messages,	
	stereotyping, and other content."	

	"Be aware of content and	
	prioritize educational, age -	
	appropriate, and interactive	
	programming. Encourage the use	
	of screen devices for creative	
	activities, such as drawing, over	
	passive viewing."	
	,	
Canada- Canadia	n Society for Exercise Physiology	
2012 (Tremblay	"For those under 2 years, screen	"Limiting recreational screen time to no more
et al., 2012;	time (e.g. computer, electronic	than 2 h per day – lower levels are associated
Tremblay et al.,	games) is not recommended."	with additional health benefits"
2011)		
	"For children 2-4 years, screen	
	time should be limited to under 1h	
	per day; less is better."	
2017 (Canadian	Children <1 year old: "Screentime	
Society of	is not recommended"	
Exercise		
Physiology,	Children 1-2 years old: "For those	
2017)	younger than 2 sedentary screen	
	time is not recommended. For	
	those aged 2 years, sedentary	
	screen time should be limited to 1	
	hour per day - less is better."	
	Children 3-4 years old: "Sedentary	
	screen time should be limited to 1	
	hour per day- less is better"	
South Africa- Spo	rts Science Institute of South Africa	<u> </u>
2019 (Sports	< 1 year old: "NO screen time"	"< 2 hours of recreational screen time"
Science Institute		
of South Africa,	Children 1 & 2 years old: "NO	
2019)	screen time for toddlers up to 24	
	months, < 1 hour of screen time	
	for toddlers between 24 &36	
	months"	

	Children 3, 4 & 5 years old: "< 1	
	hour of screen time"	
	"Furthermore, children should be en	ncouraged to do more energetic play, and age
	appropriate, interactive activities sh	nould be favoured"
New Zealand- New	w Zealand Ministry of Health	
2017 (New	"Discourage screen time for under	"No more than 2 hours per day of recreational
Zealand Ministry	two year olds and limit screen	screen time"
of Health, 2017a,	time to less than one hour every	
2017b)	day for children aged two years or	
	older- less is best!"	
<b>United Kingdom-</b>	Royal College of Paediatrics and Cl	hild Health
2019 (Royal	"Because the effect of screen tir	ne depends so much on context, and the
College of		e, it is impossible to give comprehensive
Paediatrics and		vever, we think that families should examine
Child Health,	_	sing the following questions as a guide"
2019)	"Is screen time in your hous     "Dana savage was interference."	
,	<ul><li> "Does screen use interfere with what your family want to do?"</li><li> "Does screen use interfere with sleep?"</li></ul>	
	"Are you able to control sna	·
	_	sponses, they can be assured that they are likel
	doing as well as they can navigating	
	aomg as well as they can havigating	, the issue of selectifuse.
World Health Org	anization	
2019 (World	Infants (<1 year): "Screen time is	
Health	not recommended"	
Organization,	Children aged 1-2 years: "For 1-	
2019)	year-olds, sedentary screen time	
2013)	(such as watching TV or videos,	
	playing computer games) is not	
	recommended. For those aged 2	
	years, sedentary screen time	
	should be no more than 1 hour,	
	less is better."	
	Children aged 3-4 years:	
	"Sedentary screen time should be	
	no more than 1 hour; less is	
	better"	
2020 (World		Children and adolescents aged 5-17 years:
Health		"Children and adolescents should limit the

Organization,	time spent being sedentary, particular	ly the	
2020a)	amount of recreational screen time. St	rong	
	recommendation, low certainty evider	nce."	
United Nations			
2021 (United	"Meaningful access to digital technologies can support children to realize th	ne full	
Nations	range of their civil, political, cultural, economic and social rights. However it	f digital	
Committee on	inclusion is not achieved, existing inequalities are likely to increase, and nev	w ones	
the Rights of	may arise."		
Children, 2021)	"Opportunities provided by the digital environment play an increasingly cru	ıcial role	
	in children's development and may be vital for children's life and survival, especi in situations of crisis."		
	"Training and advice on the appropriate use of digital devices should be giv	en to	
	parents, caregivers, educators and other relevant actors, taking into accour	nt the	
	research on the effects of digital technologies on children's development es	pecially	
	during the critical neurological growth spurts of early childhood and adolescer		
	"The use of digital devices should		
	not be harmful, nor should it be a		
	substitute for in-person		
	interactions among children or		
	between children and parents or		
	caregivers. States and parties		
	should pay specific attention to		
	the effects of technology in the		
	earliest years of life when brain		
	plasticity is maximal and the		
	social environment, in particular		
	relationships with parents and		
	caregivers, is crucial to shaping		
	children's cognitive, emotional		
	and social development."		

## Why should screen use have its own guidelines?

We propose that screen use should have its own guidelines that are separate from movement guidelines due to a number of reasons:

#### 1) Enable adequate consideration of aspects of screen use other than time

The evidence suggests the impacts of screen use on children's health, well-being and development are related to more than just the time children spend interacting with screens.

Growing evidence suggests that the **content** that children engage with on screens may also be associated with developmental outcomes. For example, whether the content is child-directed or adult-directed may be associated with cognitive skills (Barr et al., 2010); whether the content is educational or non-educational may be associated with executive function (Huber et al., 2018), and whether the content is prosocial or violent may be associated with behaviour (Christakis et al., 2013) among young children.

Similarly, the **context** and **purpose** of screen use may also influence developmental outcomes in children. For example, whether the child is using a screen alone or co-viewing with an adult may be associated with their cognitive development (Guellai et al., 2022); whether co-viewing including verbal communication with a parent or not may be associated with the child's attention (Fidler et al., 2010) and whether video-chat interaction paired with a parent who provided modelling of attention, interest, and responsiveness or not may be associated with improved word learning and language acquisition in children (Troseth et al., 2018).

This evidence about the importance of aspects other than time has led to increasing calls to think beyond screen time (Barr et al., 2010; Granic et al., 2020).

Interestingly other national/international guidelines typically extend to mention a few aspects other than time (e.g. quality content, co-viewing context, video-chat), with the Australian guidelines being somewhat isolated with its focus solely on time. This focus on time is conceptually consistent with screen use being forced into a 24-hour time use composition framework. Thus guidelines based on 24-hour movement behaviours can't consider other aspects of the nature of screen use and be conceptually coherent.

## 2) Enable better guidance on how screen use can have a positive impact on child health and development

The current Australian guidelines view screen time as a 'toxic' (Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health, 2019) exposure that should be minimised as much as possible. However, evidence suggests that screen use may be associated with positive health and developmental outcomes for children (Arabiat et al., 2022). For example, 'interactive' screen use may be associated with better receptive language

development and better executive function (Arabiat et al., 2022). Similarly, use of a maths app may be associated with better maths scores (Hassler Hallstedt et al., 2018) and playing prosocial video games may be associated with improved ability to cooperate, share, and maintain positive relationships outside of the game, and a tendency to maintain positive affective relationships, cooperation and sharing as well as empathy (Marsh et al., 2015; National Association for the Education of Young Children & Fred Rogers Center for Early Learning and Children's Media, 2012). Parent-child co-play may be associated with positive social development (Ewin et al., 2021). Further, a focus only on time doesn't allow for real discussion of the 'quality' of the experience and what it may or may not offer. Contemporary screen use offers important affordances that would otherwise not be possible for some children (e.g. a virtual visit to a museum, connection to family through video conferencing, access to experts).

Recognition of the potential positive outcomes associated with screen use is probably the reason other national guidelines provide some guidance on nature of use, including aspects of content, context and purpose, as mentioned above. In contrast the Australia guidelines are relatively silent on these other aspects known to be important.

The exception to this is that Australian and many other guidelines limit the recommendation to restricting use for "entertainment" purposes. However this is problematic as creating a clear distinction between education and entertainment use of screens may not be possible. Play is how young children in particular learn, connecting to understandings and theorisations of digital play (Arnott, 2016). Even for older children learning can be associated with play, including what children themselves view or determine as digital play, with this including their use of screens for interacting with peers via online gaming (Ewin et al., 2021; Mavoa et al., 2017).

Further, many apps for children may be labelled as education, but there is currently no consistent, or agreed upon, definition of what constitutes an educational app in the literature and by extension any evaluative mechanism for these labels (Hirsh-Pasek et al., 2015). Similarly, high quality content for children can be predicated on the motive of being primarily entertaining and yet contain strong educational opportunities (e.g. Bluey;) or vice versa, be predicated on being educational but be highly entertaining (e.g. Play School) (Giuffre, 2020).

#### 3) Recognise the varying needs and vulnerabilities of different children

A universal time limit, whilst simple and brief, is unlikely to be appropriate for all children, including not only typically developing children but also children with atypical development, chronic conditions or disabilities (Holtz et al., 2018; Peñuelas-Calvo et al., 2022). For example, the use of tailored electronic games or "serious games" by children with chronic conditions has been shown to improve heath and developmental outcomes such as improving attention and cognitive outcomes among children with ADHD (Peñuelas-Calvo et al., 2022) and promoting motor function and physical activity among children with cerebral palsy (Holtz et al., 2018). Assistive technology can also improve learning, behaviour, attention and communication in children with special needs (Parette & Stoner, 2008). Universal time limits without clear

distinctions have the effect of sending the message that all screen use is 'bad', which contradicts the use of evidence-based technology-assisted therapies to improve developmental and health outcomes among children with additional needs.

Separate guidelines would provide space to inform families about the range of issues they may wish to consider, to help empower them decide on what screen use is suitable for their family. This would also acknowledge the variety in family circumstances and needs, for example whether both parents are working full time.

#### 4) Recognise rights of children growing up in a digital society

The UN has now declared that access to digital technologies is a right for children (United Nations Committee on the Rights of Children, 2021). The articulated rights include minimising potential harm including rights to data privacy and protection from discrimination, abuse, and economic exploitation. However rights also include rights to access digital technologies for leisure and play, as well as education. This balance of protection and access is not compatible with the current public health conceptualisation of screen time as 'toxic'.

The UN declaration also outlines expectations that nations provide guidance, education and legal structures to support these rights. Time-based guidelines focussed on sitting do not help inform development of rules, regulations and codes of practice to articulate societal expectations of how children interact with screens. For example regulations and codes of practice for social media platforms need to consider critical aspects of children's use of these platforms other than time.

#### 5) Enable transdisciplinary guidelines

The current conflict between educational and health focussed guidelines has been highlighted (Straker et al., 2018). Educational guidance has focused on helping children be competent screen users and thus be able to be productive citizens participating in a digital world. For example, the Australian Early Years Learning Framework (Australian Government Department of Education Employment and Workplace Relations, 2009) states that children should be taught skills and techniques to use information technologies and encouraged to use technologies to access information and represent their ideas. In contrast the health guidance is focused on reducing physical and mental health risks and thus recommends minimising use. Such conflict does not help families and professionals working with families.

There have been rare attempts to provide guidelines focussed on the whole child. For example the Early Childhood Australia's "Statement on Young Children and Digital Technologies" (Edwards et al., 2018) utilised a multidisciplinary approach to develop practice guidance for early childhood educators that covers health and wellbeing, relationships, citizenship and play/pedagogy aspects.

#### 6) Enable a neutral approach to screen use

Current health screen use guidelines focus on maximum time exposures, following the approach of risk reduction used to manage risks associated with exposure to chemical or biological toxins. This positions screen use as having the potential for only a negative impact on child health and development, despite this not being accurate (as discussed above). Separate guidelines for screen use would enable provision of information covering both the benefits and risks.

A current example of more neutral health guidelines is the Australian dietary guidelines that don't focus on the time taken to eat or total kilojoules consumed, but rather what foods help with health and development and what foods may have a negative impact. For example, "Enjoy a wide variety of nutritious foods from these five groups every day:...." and "Limit intake of foods containing saturated fat, added salt, added sugars and alcohol..." (Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care & Australian Government National Health and Medical Research Council, 2022)

A further example of a more neutral way to support families is how Australian society deals with the risks and benefits for children using the beach (Straker et al., 2022). The potential benefits for children in terms of activity, social engagement, learning about nature are recognised and a range of mechanism put in place to manage potential risks including education, skills and supervision.

Providing screen use guidelines in a more neutral manner would support parents in their decision making and empower them, as opposed to exacerbating parental guilt and stress.

#### 7) Enable the clear separation of sitting time from screen use

Sitting time isn't really memorable in the way a child doing vigorous activity would be, so sitting time was previously estimated by using parental reports of TV viewing time as a proxy measure. The last couple of decades have seen the development of objective measures of sedentary time (and physical activity time) (Straker et al., 2014), so there is now less need to rely on parent- or self- reports of screen time.

Interestingly, the fairly consistent associations observed between reports of children's screen time and child health and development outcomes has not been observed in studies using objective measures of sedentary behaviour. For example, from the review that informed the development of the CESP guidelines for young children, associations between screen time, particularly TV viewing time, and indicators of adiposity, were primarily reported to be unfavourable (TV = 20 studies) or null (TV = 24 studies; favourable = 2 studies). However, associations between objectively measured total sedentary time and indicators of adiposity and were predominantly null (unfavourable = 1 study, null = 12 studies) (Poitras et al., 2017). Likewise, from the review that informed the development of the CESP guidelines for children and youth (n = 200 studies) higher durations/frequencies of screen time (particularly TV viewing time) was associated with unfavourable body composition, clustered cardiometabolic risk scores, unfavourable behavioural conduct/pro-social behaviour, and lower fitness (Carson et al., 2016). However, a consistent association between accelerometer measured sedentary behaviour was not observed with any outcome (n = 35

studies) (Carson et al., 2016). The review concluded that current evidence suggests screen time has a bigger impact on health compared with overall sedentary time (Carson et al., 2016). Findings from another systematic review with meta-analyses examining associations between accelerometer measured sedentary behaviour and health outcomes in 2-18 year-olds (n = 88 studies) were consistent, concluding that there is limited available evidence that total sedentary behaviour is associated with health outcomes in children and adolescents (Cliff et al., 2016).

This evidence suggests that parent report of screen time should NOT be used as a proxy measure of sitting time. There is also the broader implication that conceptualising screen use as only a sedentary behaviour is very limiting and misses multifaceted exposure aspects that have the potential to benefit and harm child development (see points 1 and 2) (Straker et al., 2016). These findings have also led to conjecture that screen time might actually be a marker of (or correlated with) other individual/family factors that increase vulnerability of children to poorer outcomes (Ekelund, 2012), rather than the cause of the poor outcomes.

#### 8) Encourage better measures of screen use

The increasing complexity of the sociotechnical system of screen use creates difficulties for creating strong evidence based on parent- or self- reports. At the end of the last century the limited number of devices and broadcasts of a limited number of programs that came in handy half hour/hour chunks made it fairly easy for parents to report on their child's usual viewing habits. But the contemporary system involves multiple and sometimes mobile screens usable anywhere by even very young children, with content available anytime, and a wide variety of activities to do on a screen (including school activities) making it very difficult for parents to accurately report their child's screen use time, let alone other aspects of the nature of engagement. Further, parent reporting creates considerable burden on parents and is known to be biased and inaccurate (LeBlanc et al., 2017).

Sitting time can now be measured more objectively using wearable activity monitors, placing minimal burden on the child and parent and providing detailed data on the amount and pattern of children's sitting. Unfortunately similar objective and low burden methods for measuring the amount and nature of screen use by children are not currently available, despite efforts to develop systems using data such as device data traffic and wearable camera images (Thomas et al., 2022).

Guidelines which recognise that other aspects of screen use are important will encourage researchers to develop better methods to create evidence concerning aspects of screen use other than simply time.

## 9) Enable moderate/vigorous physical activity and sleep guidelines to be better received by the community

The inclusion of the contentious issue of screen time in 24-hour movement guidelines detracts from the community paying attention to moderate/vigorous activity and sleep guidelines. This is important as there is strong evidence that activity and sleep have a clear impact on child health and development.

The novel aspect of the latest Australian guidelines (Australian Government Department of Health, 2017, 2018) was considering children's 24-hour day and so incorporated sleep for the first time. Sleep is well established as a very important aspect for child health and development. For example, longer sleep duration and improved sleep quality in preschool and school aged children is associated with improved cognition, psychological health and quality of life outcomes (Matricciani et al., 2019). Similarly, several systematic reviews have demonstrated cross sectional and longitudinal associations between poor sleep duration and childhood obesity (Matricciani et al., 2019). However this important new message about sleep was largely overlooked by the Australian community as the general reaction was that the screen time guidelines were out of touch with reality so the overall guidance as a whole was somewhat discounted. Thus the potential positive impact on child health and development from the inclusion of sleep guidelines was not achieved.

The community focus on an unrealistic and unhelpful screen time guideline also meant the guidance on moderate/vigorous physical activity was mainly overlooked also. Like sleep, there is very strong evidence of the potential positive impact of moderate/vigorous physical activity (Poitras et al., 2017). For example, more moderate/vigorous physical activity is associated with better body composition, cardiometabolic health, aerobic fitness, muscular strength and endurance and bone health (Poitras et al., 2017). Similarly, participation in moderate/vigorous physical activity promotes motor skill development as well as reduced psychological distress, improved self-esteem and quality of life (Poitras et al., 2017). So again, the potential positive impact on child health and development from the inclusion of moderate/vigorous physical activity guidelines is unlikely to be achieved without being separated from screen use guidelines.

# Time to re-evaluate the approach to screen use guidelines in Australia (and internationally)

In summary, we see at least nine reasons why Australia, and other countries, should move away from simple time based screen use guidelines embedded in 'movement' guidelines to have separate screen use guidelines providing more useful information to families across a broader range of aspects.

The goal of the current Australian screen use guidelines was to fit within the paradigm of 24 hour movement behaviours. For screen guidance to be helpful and relevant to families, health and education professionals, service organisations, policy makers, and technology designers, the goal needs to change.

Given the nine reasons presented above, and the recent changes in evidence and international thinking, we recommend that Australia develops broader screen use guidelines around a goal of providing children, and adults influencing children's lives, with more useful information. These new guidelines should be developed with consideration of a number of principles, summarised in Table 3, and should:

- cover multiple aspects of screen use likely to be important for child health and development,
- provide advice around aspects to limit given likely maleficent effects but also providing advice around aspects to encourage which are likely to have a beneficial effect, and
- present information in a manner which empowers guideline users to make decisions in the best interests of children.

In conclusion, we recommend Australia embark on a participative and honest process to develop standalone screen use guidelines based on these 3 principles, to support children growing up in a digital world.

#### Table 3: Suggested principles for developing better screen use guidelines

- Separate guidelines for screen use from movement and sleep guidelines
- Approach screen use as neither inherently good or bad but as an important part of life for most children and a recognised right of children in a digital world
- Aim to help children learn to be competent users to gain the benefits whilst minimising risks
- Consider broader aspects of screen use than just time
- Consider broad aspects of child health, wellbeing and development and search for and include evidence of aspects other than just time that might make screen use beneficial or harmful for development
- Draw on a broader base of primary studies to include evidence from qualitative, laboratory and trial studies in addition to epidemiological studies
- Acknowledge limited evidence and contentious evidence
- Involve end users from the outset parents, professionals working with children, organisations providing services for children, companies providing technology used by children, and children

#### **ABOUT THE AUTHORS**

#### **Professor Leon Straker**

Leon Straker is John Curtin Distinguished Professor in the School of Allied Health at Curtin University. His research over the past two decades has focussed on the health and development implications of technology use by children. This has included epidemiological, laboratory, qualitative and clinical trial studies ranging from pregnancy through adolescence. He has held leadership positions in Active Healthy Kids Australia and Australian Council on Children and the Media. He is listed in the top 1% of scientists globally, and ranked #1 in Australia and #44 globally for peer-reviewed papers on children and technology. He has published over 350 peer-reviewed papers that have been cited over 20,000 times and mentioned in over 250 policy documents including over 80 by the World Health Organisation. He has been an investigator on research grants worth over \$56M Australian dollars.

#### **Professor Susan Edwards**

Susan Edwards is Director of the Early Childhood Futures research group at the Institute for Learning Sciences and Teacher Education, Australian Catholic University. Her research investigates young children's play and learning in cultural settings, including digital contexts and opportunities for learning. Professor Edwards has published over 70 papers in peer reviewed journals, and several books. She has been an investigator on five nationally funded research projects, and her work has informed national initiatives in early childhood education and care, such as the Early Childhood Australia Statement on Young Children and Digital Technologies, the Early Language Learning Australia (ELLA) project and the development of Australia's first-ever national Playgroup Statement.

#### **Professor Lisa Kervin**

Lisa Kervin is Professor in Education at the University of Wollongong where she also directs Early Start Research. She has been researching in the area of literacy education, play theory and digital technologies using qualitative and mixed methods for over 20 years. She has published over 70 papers in peer reviewed journals and 40 book chapters in areas of education, social sciences and technology. She is recognised for her interdisciplinary expertise with main areas of impact being in social sciences, computer science and psychology. Lisa has significant experience with ARC Discovery projects and has expertise working with young children and their families and educators. Her work has been cited by government agencies to inform the development of curriculum and policy (including as examples, Publications Office of the European Union, World Health Organisation and Norwegian Government and US Centres for Disease Control).

#### **Doctor Jade Burley**

Jade Burley is a lecturer in the School of Education at The University of Wollongong. Her research focuses of the influence of digital technology and movement to support their cognitive and psychosocial development. Jade has published 27 peer-reviewed articles and has been cited over 800 times. She is an investigator on research grants worth over \$2.6M on projects that aim to improve the health and wellbeing of children across Australia.

#### **Doctor Danica Hendry**

Danica Hendry is a research fellow at Curtin University. Her research explores the impacts of digital technology use on children's health and wellbeing, with a particular interest in children's movement. She has published 10 peer-reviewed articles. She is an investigator on research grants worth over \$1M on projects focussed on children from healthy and clinical populations.

#### **Associate Professor Dylan Cliff**

Dylan Cliff's program of research focuses on understanding children's digital technology use and movement behaviours, including their physical activity and sedentary behaviour, to support their healthy development. He has published more than 125 peer-reviewed journal articles and co-authored several reports to inform federal and state government policy and practice. His research has been cited more than 10,000 times, including by the World Health Organization in the development of their Guidelines on Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour. He has been awarded over \$43M Australian dollars in competitive research funding from 13 national competitive grants and three research fellowships.

#### REFERENCES

- American Academy of Pediatrics. (2001). American Academy of Pediatrics: Children, adolescents, and television. *Pediatrics*, 107(2), 423-426. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.107.2.423">https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.107.2.423</a>
- American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Nutrition. (2003). *Policy statement: Prevention of pediatric overweight and obesity*. American Academy of Pediatrics
- American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Public Education. (1999). Media Education. *Pediatrics*, 104(2), 341-343. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.104.2.341">https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.104.2.341</a>
- American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Communications and Media. (2011). Media use by children younger than 2 years. *Pediatrics*, *128*(5), 1040-1045. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-1753">https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-1753</a>
- American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Communications and Media. (2016). Children and Adolescents and Digital Media. *Pediatrics*, 138(5). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-2593">https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-2593</a>
- American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Communications and Media, Hill, D., Ameenuddin, N., Reid Chassiakos, Y., Cross, C., Hutchinson, J., Levine, A., Boyd, R., Mendelson, R., Moreno, M., & Swanson, W. S. (2016). Media and Young Minds. *Pediatrics*, *138*(5). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-2591">https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-2591</a>
- American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Communications and Media, Strasburger, V. C., Hogan, M. J., Mulligan, D. A., Ameenuddin, N., Christakis, D. A., Cross, C., Fagbuyi, D. B., Hill, D. L., Levine, A. E., McCarthy, C., Moreno, M. A., & Swanson, W. S. L. (2013). Children, adolescents, and the media. *Pediatrics*, *132*(5), 958-961. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2013-2656">https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2013-2656</a>
- Arabiat, D., Al Jabery, M., Robinson, S., Whitehead, L., & Mörelius, E. (in press 2022). Interactive technology use and child development: A systematic review. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, . online early view <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.13082">https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.13082</a>
- Arnott, L. (2016). An ecological exploration of young children's digital play: Framing children's social experiences with technologies in early childhood. *Early Years*, *36*(3), 271-288. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/09575146.2016.1181049">https://doi.org/10.1080/09575146.2016.1181049</a>
- Australian Government Department of Education Employment and Workplace Relations. (2009).

  \*\*Belonging, being & becoming: The early years learning framework for Australia. Canberra, Australia: Commonwealth of Australia
- Australian Government Department of Health. (2017). *Guidelines for Healthy Growth and Development for Your Child*. Canberra, Australia: Commonwealth of Australia
- Australian Government Department of Health. (2018). Australian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines for Children and Young People (5-17 years): An integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep.

Canberra, ACT: Commonwealth of Australia Retrieved from

https://www.health.gov.au/topics/physical-activity-and-exercise/physical-activity-and-exercise-guidelines-for-all-australians/for-infants-toddlers-and-preschoolers-birth-to-5-years

- Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care. (2021). *Physical activity and exercise guidelines for all Australians- for infants, toddlers and preschoolers (birth to 5 years)*.

  Commonwealth of Australia. <a href="https://www.health.gov.au/topics/physical-activity-and-exercise-guidelines-for-all-australians/for-infants-toddlers-and-preschoolers-birth-to-5-years">https://www.health.gov.au/topics/physical-activity-and-exercise-guidelines-for-all-australians/for-infants-toddlers-and-preschoolers-birth-to-5-years</a>
- Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care, & Australian Government National Health and Medical Research Council. (2022). *Australian dietary guidelines 1-5*. Commonweath of Australia. Retrieved 05 December 2022 from <a href="https://www.eatforhealth.gov.au/guidelines/australian-dietary-guidelines-1-5">https://www.eatforhealth.gov.au/guidelines/australian-dietary-guidelines-1-5</a>
- Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing. (2004a). *Australia's physical activity recommendations for 5-12 year olds*. Canberra, Australia: Commonwealth of Australia
- Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing. (2004b). *Australia's physical activity recommendations for 12-18 year olds*. Canberra, Australia: Commonwealth of Australia
- Australian Government Department of Health and Aging. (2010). *National physical activity* recommendations for children 0-5 years. Canberra, Australia: Commonwealth of Australia
- Barr, R., Lauricella, A., Zack, E., & Calvert, S. L. (2010). Infant and early childhood exposure to adult-directed and child-directed television programming: Relations with cognitive skills at age four. Merrill-Palmer Quarterly, 56, 21-48. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1353/mpq.0.0038">https://doi.org/10.1353/mpq.0.0038</a>
- Canadian Paediatric Society Digital Health Task Force. (2017). Screen time and young children: Promoting health and development in a digital world. *Paediatrics & Child Health*, 22(8), 461-477. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/pch/pxx123">https://doi.org/10.1093/pch/pxx123</a>
- Canadian Paediatric Society Digital Health Task Force. (2019). Digital media: Promoting healthy screen use in school-aged children and adolescents. *Paediatrics & Child Health*, *24*(6), 402-408. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/pch/pxz095">https://doi.org/10.1093/pch/pxz095</a>
- Canadian Paediatric Society Digital Health Task Force. (2022). Screen time and preschool children:

  Promoting health and development in a digital world. Canadian Pediatric Society. Retrieved 16

  December 2022 from <a href="https://cps.ca/en/documents/position/screen-time-and-preschool-children">https://cps.ca/en/documents/position/screen-time-and-preschool-children</a>
- Canadian Society of Exercise Physiology. (2016). *Canadian 24-hour movement guidelines for children and youth: An integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep.* Ottawa, ON, Canada: Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology

- Canadian Society of Exercise Physiology. (2017). Canadian 24-hour movement guidelines for the early years (0-4 years): An integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep. Ottawa, ON, Canada: Canadian Society of Exercise Physiology
- Carson, V., Hunter, S., Kuzik, N., Gray, C. E., Poitras, V. J., Chaput, J. P., Saunders, T. J., Katzmarzyk, P. T., Okely, A. D., Connor Gorber, S., Kho, M. E., Sampson, M., Lee, H., & Tremblay, M. S. (2016). Systematic review of sedentary behaviour and health indicators in school-aged children and youth: an update. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition and Metabolism*, *41*(6 Suppl 3), S240-265. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2015-0630">https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2015-0630</a>
- Christakis, D. A., Garrison, M. M., Herrenkohl, T., Haggerty, K., Rivara, F. P., Zhou, C., & Liekweg, K. (2013). Modifying media content for preschool children: A randomized controlled trial. *Pediatrics*, *131*(3), 431-438. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2012-1493">https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2012-1493</a>
- Cliff, D. P., Hesketh, K. D., Vella, S. A., Hinkley, T., Tsiros, M. D., Ridgers, N. D., Carver, A., Veitch, J., Parrish, A. M., Hardy, L. L., Plotnikoff, R. C., Okely, A. D., Salmon, J., & Lubans, D. R. (2016). Objectively measured sedentary behaviour and health and development in children and adolescents: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obesity Reviews*, *17*(4), 330-344. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12371
- Edwards, S., Straker, L., & Oakey, H. (2018). *Statement on young children and digital technologies*. Early Childhood Australia, retrieved from https://www.earlychildhoodaustralia.org.au/our-work/submissions-statements/eca-statement-young-children-digital-technologies/
- Ekelund, U. (2012). Commentary: Too much sitting—a public health threat? *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *41*(5), 1353-1355. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dys128">https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dys128</a>
- Elson, M., Ferguson, C. J., Gregerson, M., Hogg, J. L., Ivory, J., Klisanin, D., Markey, P. M., Nichols, D., Siddiqui, S., & Wilson, J. (2019). Do policy statements on media effects faithfully represent the science? *Advances in Methods and Practices in Psychological Science*, *2*(1), 12-25. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/2515245918811301">https://doi.org/10.1177/2515245918811301</a>
- Ewin, C. A., Reupert, A. E., McLean, L. A., & Ewin, C. J. (2021). The impact of joint media engagement on parent–child interactions: A systematic review. *Human Behavior and Emerging Technologies*, *3*(2), 230-254. <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/hbe2.203">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/hbe2.203</a>
- Fidler, A. E., Zack, E., & Barr, R. (2010). Television viewing patterns in 6- to 18-month-olds: The role of caregiver-infant interactional quality. *Infancy*, *15*(2), 176-196. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7078.2009.00013.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7078.2009.00013.x</a>
- Flegal, K. M., Carroll, M. D., Kuczmarski, R. J., & Johnson, C. L. (1998). Overweight and obesity in the United States: Prevalence and trends, 1960–1994. *International Journal of Obesity*, 22(1), 39-47. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0800541">https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0800541</a>

- Giuffre, L. (2020). Bluey, Requestival, Play School and ME@Home: the ABC (Kids) of communication cultures during lockdown. *Media International Australia*, 178(1), 63-76. https://doi.org/10.1177/1329878X20952520
- Gortmaker, S. L., Must, A., Sobol, A. M., Peterson, K., Colditz, G. A., & Dietz, W. H. (1996). Television viewing as a cause of increasing obesity among children in the United States, 1986-1990. *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine*, 150(4), 356-362. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpedi.1996.02170290022003
- Granic, I., Morita, H., & Scholten, H. (2020). Beyond screen time: Identity development in the digital age. *Psychological Inquiry*, 31(3), 195-223. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/1047840X.2020.1820214">https://doi.org/10.1080/1047840X.2020.1820214</a>
- Guellai, B., Somogyi, E., Esseily, R., & Chopin, A. (2022). Effects of screen exposure on young children's cognitive development: A review. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *13*, 923370. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.923370
- Hamilton, M. T., Healy, G. N., Dunstan, D. W., Zderic, T. W., & Owen, N. (2008). Too little exercise and too much sitting: Inactivity physiology and the need for new recommendations on sedentary behavior. *Current Cardiovascular Risk Reports*, 2(4), 292-298. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12170-008-0054-8
- Hassler Hallstedt, M., Klingberg, T., & Ghaderi, A. (2018). Short and long-term effects of a mathematics tablet intervention for low performing second graders. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *110*. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000264
- Hirsh-Pasek, K., Zosh, J. M., Golinkoff, R. M., Gray, J. H., Robb, M. B., & Kaufman, J. (2015). Putting education in "educational" apps: lessons from the science of learning. *Psychological Science in Public Interest*, 16(1), 3-34. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1529100615569721">https://doi.org/10.1177/1529100615569721</a>
- Holtz, B. E., Murray, K., & Park, T. (2018). Serious games for children with chronic diseases: A systematic review. *Games Health Journal*, 7(5), 291-301. https://doi.org/10.1089/g4h.2018.0024
- Huber, B., Yeates, M., Meyer, D., Fleckhammer, L., & Kaufman, J. (2018). The effects of screen media content on young children's executive functioning. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, *170*, 72-85. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2018.01.006">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2018.01.006</a>
- Leaver, T., Rohl, A., & Straker, L. (2023). Beyond ChatGPT: The very near future of machine learning and early childhood. Beyond ChatGPT: The very near future of machine learning and early childhood Australian Research Council Centre of Excellence for the Digital Child.

- Marsh, J., Hannon, P., Lewis, M., & Ritchie, L. (2015). Young children's initiation into family literacy practices in the digital age. *Journal of Early Childhood Research*, *15*(1), 47-60. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1476718X15582095">https://doi.org/10.1177/1476718X15582095</a>
- Matricciani, L., Paquet, C., Galland, B., Short, M., & Olds, T. (2019). Children's sleep and health: A metareview. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, *46*, 136-150. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2019.04.011">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2019.04.011</a>
- Mavoa, J., Carter, M., & Gibbs, M. (2017). Children and Minecraft: A survey of children's digital play. *New Media & Society*, 20(9), 3283-3303. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444817745320">https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444817745320</a>
- National Association for the Education of Young Children, & Fred Rogers Center for Early Learning and Children's Media. (2012). *Position statement: Technology and interactive media as tools in early childhood programs serving children from birth through age 8*.

  <a href="https://www.naeyc.org/sites/default/files/globally-shared/downloads/PDFs/resources/position-statements/ps-technology.pdf">https://www.naeyc.org/sites/default/files/globally-shared/downloads/PDFs/resources/position-statements/ps-technology.pdf</a>
- National Health and Medical Research Council. (2000). *Handbook series on preparing clinical practice guidelines*. Canberra, Australia: Commonwealth of Australia Retrieved from <a href="http://www.health.gov.au/nhmrc/publicat/synopses/cp65syn.htm">http://www.health.gov.au/nhmrc/publicat/synopses/cp65syn.htm</a>
- National Health and Medical Research Council. (2009). *Hierarchy of evidence*. Canberra, Australia: Commonwealth of Australia Retrieved from <a href="http://www.nhmrc.gov.au">http://www.nhmrc.gov.au</a>
- New Zealand Ministry of Health. (2017a). Sit less, move more, sleep well: Active play guidelines for underfives. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Health
- New Zealand Ministry of Health. (2017b). *Sit less, move more, sleep well: Physical activity guidelines for children and young people*. Wellington, New Zealand: Ministry of Health
- Okely, A. D., Ghersi, D., Hesketh, K. D., Santos, R., Loughran, S. P., Cliff, D. P., Shilton, T., Grant, D., Jones, R. A., Stanley, R. M., Sherring, J., Hinkley, T., Trost, S. G., McHugh, C., Eckermann, S., Thorpe, K., Waters, K., Olds, T. S., Mackey, T., . . . Tremblay, M. S. (2017). A collaborative approach to adopting/adapting guidelines The Australian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines for the early years (Birth to 5 years): an integration of physical activity, sedentary behavior, and sleep. *BMC Public Health*, 17(Suppl 5), 869. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4867-6
- Okely, A. D., Salmon, J., Vella, S. A., Cliff, D. P., Timperio, A., Tremblay, M. S., Trost, S. G., Shilton, T., Hinkley, T., Ridgers, N. D., Phillipson, L., Hesketh, K. D., Parrish, A. M., Janssen, X., Brown, M., Emmel, J., & Marino, N. (2012a). *A systematic review to inform the Australian sedentary behaviour guidelines for children and young people*. Canberra, Australia: Commonwealth of Australia
- Okely, A. D., Salmon, J., Vella, S. A., Cliff, D. P., Timperio, A., Tremblay, M. S., Trost, S. G., Shilton, T., Hinkley, T., Ridgers, N. D., Phillipson, L., Hesketh, K. D., Parrish, A. M., Janssen, X., Brown, M., Emmel, J., & Marino, N. (2012b). *A systematic review to update the Australian physical activity guidelines for children and young people*. Canberra, Australia: Commonwealth of Australia

- Orben, A., & Przybylski, A. K. (2019). The association between adolescent well-being and digital technology use. *Nature Human Behaviour*, *3*(2), 173-182. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-018-0506-1">https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-018-0506-1</a>
- Parette, H. P., & Stoner, J. B. (2008). Benefits of assistive technology user groups for early childhood education professionals. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 35(4), 313-319. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-007-0211-6
- Peñuelas-Calvo, I., Jiang-Lin, L. K., Girela-Serrano, B., Delgado-Gomez, D., Navarro-Jimenez, R., Baca-Garcia, E., & Porras-Segovia, A. (2022). Video games for the assessment and treatment of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: A systematic review. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 31(1), 5-20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-020-01557-w
- Poitras, V. J., Gray, C. E., Janssen, X., Aubert, S., Carson, V., Faulkner, G., Goldfield, G. S., Reilly, J. J., Sampson, M., & Tremblay, M. S. (2017). Systematic review of the relationships between sedentary behaviour and health indicators in the early years (0-4 years). *BMC Public Health*, *17*(Suppl 5), 868. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4849-8
- Robinson, T. N. (1999). Reducing children's television viewing to prevent obesity: a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 282(16), 1561-1567. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.282.16.1561
- Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health. (2019). *The health impacts of screen time: A guide for clinicians and parents*. United Kingdom: Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health
- Sports Science Institute of South Africa. (2019). 24-hour Movement Guidelines for Children. Sports Science Institute of South Africa. Retrieved 16 December from <a href="https://www.ssisa.com/news/movement-guidelines-children/">https://www.ssisa.com/news/movement-guidelines-children/</a>
- Stiglic, N., & Viner, R. M. (2019). Effects of screentime on the health and well-being of children and adolescents: A systematic review of reviews. *British Medical Journal Open*, 9(1), e023191. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-023191
- Straker, L., & Abbott, R. (2007). Effect of screen-based media on energy expenditure and heart rate in 9- to 12-year-old children. *Pediatric Exercise Science*, *19*(4), 459-471. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1123/pes.19.4.459">https://doi.org/10.1123/pes.19.4.459</a>
- Straker, L., Campbell, A., Mathiassen, S. E., Abbott, R. A., Parry, S., & Davey, P. (2014). Capturing the pattern of physical activity and sedentary behavior: Exposure variation analysis of accelerometer data. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 11(3), 614-625. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2012-0105">https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2012-0105</a>
- Straker, L., Edwards, S., Highfield, K., Stone, L., McCormack, D., Zarb, D., Biggins, B., Hendry, D., Thomas, G., Campbell, A., Harris, C., & Zabatiero, J. (2022). 'Technology as the beach' How a new way of thinking about children's use of digital technologies may lead to better outcomes for children. <a href="https://www.digitalchild.org.au/blog/technology-as-the-beach/">https://www.digitalchild.org.au/blog/technology-as-the-beach/</a>

- Straker, L., Howie, E. K., Cliff, D. P., Davern, M. T., Engelen, L., Gomersall, S. R., Ziviani, J., Schranz, N. K., Olds, T., & Tomkinson, G. R. (2016). Australia and other nations are failing to meet sedentary behaviour guidelines for children: Implications and a way forward. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, *13*(2), 177-188. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2015-0026">https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2015-0026</a>
- Straker, L., Zabatiero, J., Danby, S., Thorpe, K., & Edwards, S. (2018). Conflicting guidelines on young children's screen time and use of digital technology create policy and practice dilemmas. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 202, 300-303. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.07.019">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.07.019</a>
- Thomas, G., Bennie, J. A., De Cocker, K., Dwi Andriyani, F., Booker, B., & Biddle, S. J. H. (2022). Using wearable cameras to categorize the type and context of screen-based behaviors among adolescents: Observational study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research Pediatrics and Parenting*, 5(1), e28208. https://doi.org/10.2196/28208
- Tremblay, M. S., Leblanc, A. G., Carson, V., Choquette, L., Connor Gorber, S., Dillman, C., Duggan, M., Gordon, M. J., Hicks, A., Janssen, I., Kho, M. E., Latimer-Cheung, A. E., Leblanc, C., Murumets, K., Okely, A. D., Reilly, J. J., Stearns, J. A., Timmons, B. W., & Spence, J. C. (2012). Canadian sedentary behaviour guidelines for the early years (aged 0-4 years). *Applied Physiology Nutrition and Metabolism*, 37(2), 370-391. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1139/h2012-019">https://doi.org/10.1139/h2012-019</a>
- Tremblay, M. S., Leblanc, A. G., Janssen, I., Kho, M. E., Hicks, A., Murumets, K., Colley, R. C., & Duggan, M. (2011). Canadian sedentary behaviour guidelines for children and youth. *Applied Physiology Nutrition and Metabolism*, 36(1), 59-64; 65-71. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1139/h11-012">https://doi.org/10.1139/h11-012</a>
- Troseth, G. L., Strouse, G. A., Verdine, B. N., & Saylor, M. M. (2018). Let's chat: On-screen social responsiveness is not sufficient to support toddlers' word learning from video. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, 2195. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02195">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02195</a>
- United Nations Committee on the Rights of Children. (2021). *General comment No. 25 (2021) on children's rights in relation to the digital environment*. Retrieved from https://www.ohchr.org/en/documents/general-comments-and-recommendations/general-comment-no-25-2021-childrens-rights-relation
- World Health Organization. (2019). *Guidelines on physical activity, sedentary behaviour and sleep: For children under 5 years of age*. Geneva: World Health Organization Retrieved from <a href="https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241550536">https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241550536</a>
- World Health Organization. (2020a). WHO guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. Geneva: World Health Organization Retrieved from <a href="https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240015128">https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240015128</a>
- World Health Organization. (2020b). WHO guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour web annex. Geneva: World Health Organization Retrieved from <a href="https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240015111">https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240015111</a>

World Health Organization. Global Programme on Evidence for Health Policy. (2003). *Guidelines for WHO guidelines*. Geneva: World Health Organization Retrieved from <a href="https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/68925">https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/68925</a>







Australian Research Council Centre of Excellence for the Digital Child

149 Victoria Park Rd, Kelvin Grove QLD 4059 QUT, Kelvin Grove QLD 4059 <u>info@digitalchild.org.au</u>

www.digitalchild.org.au